IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

B.B, a Minor, etc., et al.,

Plaintiffs, Respondents, and Petitioners,

v.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

DEC 1 0 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

T.E., a Minor, etc., et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

Deputy

D.B., a Minor, etc., et al., Plaintiffs and Respondents,

 \mathbf{v} .

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al.,

Defendants and Appellants.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division Three Case No. B264946

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

PINE TILLETT PINE LLP

Norman Pine, Esq.
*Scott Tillett, Esq.

INTRODUCTION

The overriding purpose of Proposition 51 (the so-called "Deep Pocket Initiative") was to restore fairness to our system of comparative fault. Its language, history, and statements of "legislative" intent (in the context of a voter initiative) all confirm that it attacked that problem on two closely related fronts.

First, declaring the need to redress the "unfair[ness]" of "deep pocket" defendants suffering "inclu[sion] in lawsuits," despite there being "little or no basis for finding them at fault," Proposition 51 eliminated the former rule of joint and several liability for the plaintiff's non-economic damages (while preserving it for economic damages to protect the plaintiffvictim). (Civ. Code, § 1431.1(a–b).)¹

Second, however, Proposition 51 pointedly placed a major limitation on the change it was making. It included the key language at the heart of this appeal: "based upon principles of comparative fault." (§ 1431.2(a).) One of those carefully preserved

¹ Unless otherwise indicated, all references are to the California Civil Code.

principles is that intentional tortfeasors are not entitled to shift any portion of their liability to those who are merely negligent.

In decisions construing sections 1431.1–1431.2, this Court has highlighted how the statute was concerned with affording protection to those less morally culpable. *DaFonte v. Up-Right, Inc.* ("*DaFonte*") (1992) 2 Cal.4th 593, 599, for example, explained that Proposition 51's purpose was to alleviate the "exploitation of *relatively blameless* defendants." (Emphasis added.) This makes perfect sense given that comparative fault, itself, is an equitable remedy.

In our case, the Court of Appeal erred because, rather than following the basic meaning and purpose of the statutory scheme, it felt bound by certain dicta in *DaFonte*. But *DaFonte* had zero to do with intentional tortfeasors; rather it dealt solely with adjustment of liability among negligent parties.

As we explain below, the Court of Appeal's Opinion cannot be sustained for at least four reasons. First, the Opinion failed to address in any meaningful way section 1431.2's key language: "based upon principles of comparative fault."

Second, the Opinion disregarded an eminently reasonable—and historically accurate—interpretation of that key

statutory phrase. As noted, the preexisting principles of comparative fault incorporated by reference do not permit an intentional tortfeasor to reduce his or her liability based on another's negligence.

Third, the Court of Appeal's holding—which protects intentional tortfeasors at the expense of merely negligent parties—is absurd given section 1431.2's intended purpose: to relieve "relatively blameless defendants" of disproportionate liability. Although intentional tortfeasors are covered in part by section 1431.2, it is purely a one-way street. Merely negligent actors receive the full benefit of not being responsible for any of the harm caused by an unavailable or a judgment-proof intentional actor, i.e., the statute creates a shield. Conversely, however, intentional tortfeasors cannot use the statute as a sword, i.e., they cannot benefit at the expense of the other parties from the statute's limitation on non-economic damages liability.

Fourth, as we will demonstrate, the Court of Appeal's

Opinion conflicts with basic public policy principles. Whether

reference is made to analogous statutes, fundamental principles

of equity, or just plain common sense, it is clear that it was never

the intention that intentional tortfeasors would be given any dispensation from their bad acts.

ISSUE PRESENTED

May a defendant who commits an intentional tort invoke
Civil Code section 1431.2, which limits a defendant's liability for
non-economic damages "in direct proportion to that defendant's
percentage of fault," to have his liability for damages reduced
based on principles of comparative fault?

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. Los Angeles County Sherriff's Deputies respond to a domestic disturbance call.

On the evening of August 3, 2012, Los Angeles County
Sheriff's Department officers responded to a domestic dispute in
Compton, California, involving Darren Burley. (B.B. v. County of
Los Angeles ("B.B.") (2018) 25 Cal.App.5th 115, 121.)
Deputies David Aviles and Steve Fernandez who were the first to
arrive at the scene ordered Burley to get on his knees facing
away from the deputies. (Ibid.) Burley did not respond. (Ibid.)

B. Deputies engage in excessive force, including use of a carotid chokehold and flashlight strikes to Burley's head, and leave Burley face down with weight on his back and neck, compressing his airway.

Fernandez "hockey checked" Burley off his feet, causing him to hit his head on a parked truck before falling to the asphalt. (B.B, supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 121.) A struggle ensued during which Aviles punched Burley in the face approximately five times, while Fernandez controlled Burley's lower body. (6RT 1668, 1670; 7RT 1857, 2009.) Eventually, the deputies maneuvered Burley to a prone position, face-down on the concrete. (B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 121.) Aviles then mounted Burley's upper back, while pinning his chest to the ground with the maximum body weight he could apply. (Ibid.)

As Fernandez knelt on Burley's upper legs with all of his weight, Aviles pressed his right knee down on the back of Burley's head, near Burley's neck, and placed his left knee in the center of Burley's back. (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at 121.) Burley struggled with the deputies, attempting to raise his chest from the ground. (*Ibid.*)

Eye-witness Carl Boyer testified that one of the deputies choked Burley in some type of "headlock" throughout

most of the struggle. (B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 121.) Burley appeared to be gasping for air. (Ibid.) Boyer also saw a deputy hit Burley in the head several times with a flashlight. (Ibid.)

When Deputy Paul Beserra arrived, Burley was face-down and Aviles and Fernandez were trying to restrain him. (*Ibid.*)

Deputies Timothy Lee, Ernest Celaya, and William LeFevre arrived soon after. (*Ibid.*)

Beserra attempted to restrain Burley's left arm, while Lee assisted on the right and Celaya held Burley's feet. (*Ibid.*) Celaya and Lee tased Burley multiple times. (*Ibid.*) Burley was prone on his stomach the entire time, with Aviles still mounted on his back. (*Ibid.*)

Even after Burley was fully cuffed, Aviles still remained on Burley's back until Burley's legs were hobbled; at that point all deputies disengaged from Burley excepting Beserra. (*Id.* at 121–122.) A "Code 4"—indicating that the situation was under control—was sent via radio 17 minutes after Deputies Aviles and Fernandez arrived. (8RT 2108, 2138.)

While the other deputies disengaged, Beserra stayed with Burley. (B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 121.) Approximately two minutes later, Beserra heard Burley's breathing become labored

and felt his body go limp. (*Ibid.*) Beserra took no steps to administer C.P.R. (*Ibid.*)

C. Rendered unconscious and not breathing, Burley ultimately dies as a result of the struggle with Sherriff's Deputies.

When the paramedics arrived, Captain Jason Henderson of the Compton Fire Department found Burley still face-down on his stomach, with Beserra pressing his knee into the small of Burley's back. (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at 122.) Burley had no pulse. (*Ibid.*) Paramedics immediately began treating him with C.P.R. (*Ibid.*)

After five minutes, the paramedics restored Burley's pulse and transported him to the hospital. (*Ibid.*) Unfortunately, Burley never regained consciousness and died 10 days later. (*Ibid.*)

The autopsy report listed Burley's cause of death as brain death and swelling from lack of oxygen following a cardiac arrest "due to status post-restraint maneuvers or behavior associated with cocaine, phencyclidine and cannabinoids intake." (*Ibid.*) The manner of death was marked, "could not be determined." (*Ibid.*)

D. The jury trial, verdict, and post-trial motions.

Three sets of plaintiffs filed lawsuits against the County and deputies: (1) Burley's estranged wife, Rhandi T., and their two children; (2) Burley's two children with Shanell S.; and (3) Burley's child with Akira E. The complaints asserted causes of action for battery, negligence, and civil rights violations under Civil Code section 52.1.

Defendants moved for summary adjudication of the civil rights claim. The trial court granted the motion, and the three consolidated cases proceeded to trial on the battery and negligence claims against Deputies Aviles, Beserra, Fernandez, Celaya, Lee, and LeFevre and the County.

After a multi-week trial, this wrongful death action culminated in a jury verdict finding "Aviles liable for intentional battery by use of excessive force and [] Beserra liable for negligence." (B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 119, emphasis added.) The jury apportioned fault for Burley's death between Aviles (20%), Beserra (20%), other deputies (20%), and Burley, himself (40%), based on his own negligence. The jury awarded \$8 million in combined non-economic damages (no economic

damages had been sought) to Burley's five children and his widow. (*Ibid*.)

After Plaintiffs filed a proposed judgment, Defendants opposed it on the grounds that it failed to apportion damages for Aviles and Beserra according to their percentages of fault. They contended the matter was governed by Civil Code section 1431.2 ("section 1431.2"), which provides for several liability for non-economic damages in certain actions.

After a hearing on the apportionment issue, the court rejected Defendants' argument that section 1431.2 reduced the liability of an intentional tortfeasor (Aviles). Therefore, it entered judgment against Beserra and the County for \$1.6 million (20% of the damages award) and against Aviles and the County for the full \$8 million non-economic damages award. In holding Aviles liable for the entire damages award, the trial court followed Thomas v. Duggins Construction Co., Inc. ("Thomas") (2006) 139 Cal.App.4th 1105—the only published authority dealing with the treatment of intentional tortfeasors under section 1431.2. In Thomas, the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, held that "section 1431.2 does not apply to an intentional tortfeasor's

liability in a personal injury case." (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at 124, citing *Thomas*, 139 Cal.App.4th at 1112–13.)

E. The Court of Appeal's Opinion.

Defendants appealed the judgment attacking virtually every aspect of the trial.² The Court of Appeal held that section 1431.2 must be applied to reduce Aviles' liability to 20 percent, in proportion to the percentage of fault that the jury had attributed to him. (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at 135.)

ARGUMENT

THE COURT OF APPEAL'S CONCLUSION THAT SECTION 1431.2(a) "UNAMBIGUOUSLY" REQUIRES APPORTIONMENT IN ALL CASES—EVEN WHERE IT WOULD BENEFIT INTENTIONAL TORTFEASORS—CANNOT STAND. IT IGNORES KEY STATUTORY LANGUAGE, MISREADS DAFONTE'S DICTA, DOES VIOLENCE TO THE STATUTE'S VERY PURPOSE, AND FLOUTS FUNDAMENTAL PUBLIC POLICY.

The Court of Appeal's Opinion reflects a fundamental misinterpretation of section 1431.2(a). It holds that the statute requires apportionment of non-economic damages in all cases—

In addition, Plaintiffs successfully appealed summary adjudication of their Bane Act claim (Civ. Code, § 52.1). (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at 133–134.) The Bane Act claim is not at issue here, and trial of that claim will commence following this Court's ruling.

even those where such apportionment would enure to the *benefit* of intentional tortfeasors. (B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 128.)

However, pertinent statutory language tells a different story. It provides:

In any action for personal injury, property damage, or wrongful death, based upon principles of comparative fault, the liability of each defendant for non-economic damages shall be several only and shall not be joint. Each defendant shall be liable only for the amount of non-economic damages allocated to that defendant in direct proportion to that defendant's percentage of fault, and a separate judgment shall be rendered against that defendant for that amount.

(§ 1431.2(a), emphasis added.)

(See Section B, infra.)

Once meaning is given to the italicized phrase above, it becomes clear that the statute was not meant to benefit an intentional tortfeasor at the expense of a negligent plaintiff.

Indeed, when the statute was enacted, the "very principles of comparative fault" that it incorporated by the forgoing reference had consistently recognized that intentional tortfeasors were not entitled to any of the benefits of comparative fault.

Here, the Court of Appeal went astray because it focused solely on the words "each defendant," concluding that section 1431.2's language is "unambiguous" and "mandates

allocation of noneconomic damages in direct proportion to a defendant's percentage of fault, regardless whether the defendant's misconduct is found to be intentional." (B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 128.) It based this conclusion on pure dicta contained in DaFonte v. Up-Right, Inc. ("DaFonte") (1992) 2 Cal.4th 593:

[T]he plain language of section 1431.2 unambiguously applied in "every case" to shield "every 'defendant" from joint liability for noneconomic damages not attributable to his or her own comparative fault.

(B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 124, quoting DaFonte, supra, 2 Cal.4th at 602.)

However, DaFonte had nothing to do with intentional tortfeasors and, therefore, its limited holding did not—and could not—profess to apply to the long-standing legal distinction between intentional versus negligent tortfeasors. The only issue in DaFonte concerned the comparative liability of negligent tortfeasors where one such tortfeasor (the plaintiff's employer) was statutorily immune from liability under the workers' compensation laws. (2 Cal.4th at 603–604.) Given that immunity, the specific issue was whether the negligent defendant's liability

was reduced by the percentage of fault attributable to the negligence of the immune third-party employer. (*Ibid.*)

Thus, DaFonte was solely concerned with apportionment among negligent co-tortfeasors. It had no reason to consider, much less substantively address, whether "principles of comparative fault" apply to the benefit of an intentional tortfeasor. (§ 1431.2(a).) Indeed, the DaFonte opinion repeatedly highlighted how limited its holding was. The Court pointedly noted that the order granting review

provided that "[t]he issue to be argued before this court shall be limited to whether Civil Code section 1431.2 applies to limit a tortfeasor's liability for non-economic damages in proportion to that defendant's fault where other tortfeasors at fault are not subject to suit."

(2 Cal.4th at 605, fn. 7, emphasis added.) The actual holding likewise underscored how limited it was intended to be:

Here we conclude that the plain language of section 1431.2 eliminates a third party defendant's joint and several liability to an injured employee for unpaid noneconomic damages attributable to the fault of the employer, who is statutorily immune from suit.

(Id. at 596, emphasis added.)

Because *DaFonte* had no reason to consider the portion of the statute rendering it applicable only to actions "based upon principles of comparative fault," the Court of Appeal's heavy reliance on *DaFonte* in our case was greatly misplaced.

"Language used in any opinion is of course to be understood in the light of the facts and the issue then before the court, and an opinion is not authority for a proposition not therein considered."

(Elisa B. v. Superior Court (2005) 37 Cal.4th 108, 118, citation omitted.)

All agree that where statutory "language is clear, courts must generally follow its plain meaning." (Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc. ("Bruns") (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724; see Halbert's Lumber v. Lucky Stores (1992) 6 Cal.App.4th 1233, 1239 ["If the meaning is without ambiguity, doubt, or uncertainty, then the language controls. ... There is nothing to 'interpret' or 'construe"].)

But, where statutory language "permits more than one reasonable interpretation," it is ambiguous and different rules apply. (*Bruns*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at 724.) In such cases, extrinsic aids must be considered to interpret the statute's meaning. (*Ibid*.)

Here, contrary to the Court of Appeal's ruling, section 1431.2 is facially susceptible to at least a few arguable interpretations.

A. The Opinion failed to meaningfully address section 1431.2(a)'s key phrase "based upon principles of comparative fault."

Because the Opinion never explained *how it* would actually interpret the key phrase, we are left to guess.

The only justification the Opinion even hints at is set forth in a passing footnote, which purported to rebut *Thomas*, *supra*, and the cases it relied upon. (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at 126, fn. 10.) In particular, that footnote states:

(... see also Martin By and Through Martin v. United States [("Martin")] (9th Cir. 1993) 984 F.2d 1033, 1039 [agreeing with Weidenfeller[v. Star & Garter ("Weidenfeller") (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 1], recognizing section 1431.2 "literally applies to any personal injury action," and the "clause based upon principles of comparative fault, instructs how the liability of each defendant is to be determined"].)

(B.B., supra, 25 Cal.App.5th at 126, fn. 10, emphasis added.)

The issue presented in *Martin* (just like in *Weidenfeller*), was whether, in cases where the intentional wrongdoer was absent (and/or insolvent), a negligent tortfeasor could be forced to pay more than that party would have paid otherwise. (*Martin*, supra, 984 F.2d at 1035 [the plaintiff sued the government for "negligent supervision which allowed her to become separated, abducted and raped," but did not sue the intentional assailant.)

Martin did what the Court of Appeal should have done here—it applied the preexisting "principles of comparative fault" in the specific context that had arisen and, therefore, limited a negligent tortfeasor's liability to its percentage share of fault (regardless of the status of concurrent intentional actors). The same is true for DaFonte, which, as we previously discussed, in its context correctly applied preexisting principles of comparative fault to limit a negligent tortfeasor's liability.

The same cannot be said for our case, which, unlike *Martin* and *DaFonte*, concerns whether an *intentional tortfeasor can* benefit from section 1431.2 apportionment. As we further detail in Section B, *infra*, the very "principles of comparative fault" mentioned in the above quotation recognize that intentional wrongdoers are not entitled to the benefits of protections (such as indemnity) that are afforded to less blameworthy parties.

We need not resolve whatever justifications might actually have moved the result in our case. The key point is that, as we explain below, regardless what interpretation the Court of Appeal had in mind, it necessarily treated the phrase "based upon principles of comparative fault" as surplusage. Such an interpretation violates the "fundamental rule of statutory

construction that requires every part of a statute be presumed to have some effect and not be treated as meaningless unless absolutely necessary." (*People v. Arias* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 169, 180.)

As we discuss in Section B, there is a reasonable—indeed compelling—alternative interpretation of the statute that neither requires any such strained reading nor defies basic canons of statutory interpretation.

B. The Court of Appeal ignored a more direct, and far more reasonable, interpretation of section 1431.2—one that gives full meaning to the words "based upon principles of comparative fault" and the historic evolution of that concept.

The far more reasonable interpretation of section 1431.2 is that, by its own terms, the statute requires several liability for non-economic damages *only* in an "action ... based upon principles of comparative fault..."—i.e., in an action in which comparative fault principles apply. (§ 1431.2(a).)

As previously noted, when section 1431.2 was enacted, "comparative fault" was a "legal term of art" that "had an established meaning in the judicial vocabulary." (Wilson v. John Crane, Inc. (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 847, 855, 858.) Voters who enact an initiative measure "are presumed to have adopted and

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