IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

FEB 8 2019

B.B., a Minor, etc., et al., *Plaintiffs, Respondents, and Petitioners*, v.

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al., Defendants and Appellants.

Deputy

T.E., a Minor, etc., et al., Plaintiffs, Respondents, and Petitioners,

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al., Defendants and Appellants.

D.B., a Minor, etc., et al., *Plaintiffs, Respondents, and Petitioners*, v.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES et al., Defendants and Appellants.

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE CASE NO. B264946

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES
THE HONORABLE ROSS M. KLEIN

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

The California courts of appeal have followed suit, finding the plain text of section 1431.2, subdivision (a) unambiguous and free of exceptions. (See, e.g., *Torres v. Xomox Corp.* (1996) 49 Cal.App.4th 1, 24 ["Proposition 51 by its terms guarantees that *no* judgment will *ever* be entered against *any defendant* for the plaintiff's share of noneconomic damages"; instead, "defendants will pay no more than their 'direct proportion' of those damages based on their percentage of fault."], italics added.) As one court explained, "*DaFonte* . . . indicates the Supreme Court's unwillingness to base the application of [section 1431.2] on either the status of the defendant or the theory of the defendant's liability." (*Arena v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.* (1998) 63 Cal.App.4th 1178, 1196.)

While these cases do not expressly address section 1431.2, subdivision (a)'s application to intentional tortfeasors, they do reveal that California courts—including this Court—have repeatedly found that the statute must be construed according to its unambiguous text, which guarantees apportionment to *every* defendant in a wrongful death case,

without exception. The Court should not here, for the first time, create an exception.

c. The Ballot Materials for Proposition 51 Also Establish That Intentional Tortfeasors Are Covered by Section 1431.2.

Even were the Court to consider extrinsic sources when interpreting section 1431.2, the result would be the same. The official Proposition 51 ballot materials confirm that the voters intended section 1431.2 to apply to all defendants, without exception.

Courts look principally to official ballot materials—those presented directly to voters by state officials, proponents, and opponents—to determine voter intent when a statutory text is ambiguous. They do so for good reason. It is "reasonable to infer that those who actually voted on the proposed measure read and considered the materials presented in explanation of it, and that the materials therefore provide some indication of how the measure was understood at the time by those who voted to enact it." (*Hutnick v. U.S. Fidelity & Guaranty Co.* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 456, 465, fn. 7 (*Hutnick*).) While "ballot materials can help resolve ambiguities in an initiative measure . . . they cannot vary its plain import." (*DaFonte, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 602.)

The official ballot materials for Proposition 51 offer no support for Plaintiffs' argument. The Attorney General's summary of Proposition 51 and an "Analysis by the Legislative Analyst" make no mention of any exceptions to Proposition 51's applicability, much less an exception based on the nature of the defendant's wrongdoing. (*Evangelatos*, *supra*, 44 Cal.3d at p. 1243, appen.³) Indeed, the terms "intent" or "intentional" are not in either passage. Instead, the Legislative Analyst declared that

³ The voter pamphlet for the June 3, 1986 primary election was reproduced, in relevant part, in an "Appendix" to the Court's opinion in *Evangelatos*.

Proposition 51's rule would apply to all plaintiffs and defendants alike; it "limits the liability of *each responsible party* in a lawsuit to that portion of non-economic damages that is equal to the responsible party's share of fault." (*Ibid.*, italics added.)

Statements of both proponents and opponents of Proposition 51 similarly provide no support for Plaintiffs. (*Evangelatos*, *supra*, 44 Cal.3d at p. 1243, appen.) The statements say nothing about any exceptions to the proposition's application. The proponents indicated that the statute would apply "[r]egardless of whether it is a city, county or private enterprise" that is sued. (*Id.* at p. 1245, appen.)

These ballot materials confirm the fair import of the statute's text: each defendant in a wrongful death lawsuit is entitled to apportionment of noneconomic damages. (*DaFonte*, *supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 602.) The voters—who approved Proposition 51 by a 62%-to-38% margin—had no reason to believe there would be any exceptions to that bright line rule. (See *Hutnick*, *supra*, 47 Cal.3d at p. 465, fn. 7.)

Plaintiffs claim that because the "Argument in Favor of Proposition 51" provided voters a hypothetical example of a negligent tortfeasor that was only 5% responsible for the plaintiff's total harm, Proposition 51 was intended only "to limit the liability of relatively blameless, negligent tortfeasors." (B.B. Br. at p. 30.) But this hypothetical never suggested, much less explained, to voters that Proposition 51 excluded intentional tortfeasors or contained a ceiling for the percentage of fault. It was simply one illustration, in an abbreviated context, of how Proposition 51 would operate. The proponents' statement did not, and could not, demonstrate every hypothetical application. (See, e.g., Elec. Code, § 9064 [establishing limit of 500 words for arguments for or against ballot initiatives].) Nor could the hypothetical establish by omission an exception not stated in the text. As noted above, ballot measures "cannot vary [a statute's] plain

import." (DaFonte, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 602.)

II. THE "COMPARATIVE FAULT" CLAUSE SUPPLIES ONLY THE MANNER FOR CALCULATING LIABILITY PERCENTAGES.

Plaintiffs' primary argument before the Court rests on a misreading of a single participial phrase in the first sentence of section 1431.2, subdivision (a): "based upon principles of comparative fault." A canon of statutory interpretation dictates that the participial phrase "based upon" modifies the *subject* of the sentence—"the liability of each defendant"— and not a term "action" in the preceding clause, which is already modified by "any." Thus, the "comparative fault" participial phrase instructs courts *how* the percentage of fault should be calculated—*i.e.*, according to the proportion of fault determined by the fact-finder. It does not limit *to whom* the statute applies.

a. The Nearest-Reasonable-Referent Canon Applies to Section 1431.2, Subdivision (a).

The relevant sentence in section 1431.2, subdivision (a) contains three distinct parts: "[1] In any action for personal injury, property damage, or wrongful death, [2] based upon principles of comparative fault, [3] the liability of each defendant for non-economic damages shall be several only and shall not be joint." (Civ. Code, § 1431.2, subd. (a), brackets added.)

Part 1 is an introductory or prefatory clause that defines the statute's "purview" and "circumstances." (*In re Melchor P.* (1992) 10 Cal.App.4th 788, 792–793; see also *People v. Floyd* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 179, 185 (*Floyd*) [identifying statutory phrase "Except as otherwise provided" as an "introductory clause"]; *Union Asphalt, Inc. v. Planet Insurance Co.* (1994) 21 Cal.App.4th 1762, 1766 [explaining that an "introductory clause . . . is meant to clarify a point rather than to create substantive law"].)

Part 3 is the main or operative clause, as it contains both the subject ("liability") and verb ("shall be") for the sentence and, unlike other parts,

can stand grammatically by itself. (See *Floyd*, *supra*, 31 Cal.4th at pp. 185–186 [identifying the main clause of a statute]; *PacifiCare Life & Health Insurance Co. v. Jones* (2018) 27 Cal.App.5th 391, 406 [same]; see also *Aydin Corp. v. First State Insurance Co.* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 1183, 1198 [explaining that the main clause in an insurance policy "is syntactically 'independent' and hence can stand without the subordinate clause"].)

Part 2 is a participial phrase, framed by the third and fourth commas in the sentence, that turns the verb "base" into the modifier "based." "A participial phrase is made up of a participle plus any closely associated word or words, such as modifiers or complements. It can be used . . . as an adjective to modify a noun or pronoun {nailed to the roof, the slate stopped the leaks}." (Chicago Manual of Style (17th ed. 2017) § 5.111, bold in original; see *Alan v. American Honda Motor Co.* (2007) 40 Cal.4th 894, 900 [interpreting the participial phrase "showing the date either was mailed"].)

Under the nearest-reasonable-referent canon, the participial phrase most reasonably modifies the sentence's subject: "liability." This canon provides that "[w]hen the syntax involves something other than a parallel series of nouns or verbs, a prepositive or postpositive modifier normally applies only to the *nearest reasonable referent*." (*Davis v. Fresno Unified School Dist.* (2015) 237 Cal.App.4th 261, 288, italics added, quoting Scalia & Garner, Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts (2012); see also *Lockhart v. United States* (2016) 136 S.Ct. 958, 970 [acknowledging canon] (dis. opn. of Kagan, J.).)

The nearest reasonable referent for the participial phrase is the sentence's subject. The subject is "the liability of each defendant," and the participial phrase, which *immediately* precedes the subject, relates to the doctrine that distributes liability "proportionately among all who caused the harm." (*DaFonte*, *supra*, 2 Cal.4th at 595 [explaining comparative fault

doctrine].) Indeed, the Court has observed that "comparative fault principles call for a sharing of the burden of liability." (Knight v. Jewett (1992) 3 Cal.4th 296, 311, italics added (Knight).) Given (1) the proximity of the participial phrase and the subject, which has no other modifier, and (2) the connection between comparative fault principles and liability, the sentence's subject is the nearest reasonable referent for the participial phrase. As a result, the participial phrase instructs how a defendant's liability should be calculated under the statute—i.e., "based on principles of comparative fault."

Numerous courts that have considered the question have adopted this same statutory interpretation. The U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit held: "The clause 'based upon principles of comparative fault,' instructs how 'the liability of each defendant' is to be determined." (*Martin v. United States* (9th Cir. 1993) 984 F.2d 1033, 1039 (*Martin*).) The Court of Appeal in this case agreed. (*B.B.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th at p. 126, fn. 10 [approving *Martin*].) This interpretation is also consistent with the second sentence in section 1431.2, subdivision (a), which explains that damages must be allocated "in direct proportion to [a] defendant's percentage of fault." (Civ. Code, § 1431.2, subd. (a).)

And the extrinsic evidence—which the Court need not consider given the statute's clear and unambiguous text—further confirms this interpretation. The ballot measures for Proposition 51 repeatedly informed voters that the statute entitled all defendants to apportionment of noneconomic damages based on their percentage of fault. For example, the Legislative Analyst informed the voters that Proposition 51 "limits the liability of *each responsible party* in a lawsuit to that portion of noneconomic damages that is equal to *the responsible party's share of fault.*" (*Evangelatos, supra*, 44 Cal.3d at p. 1243, appen., italics added.) Nothing in the ballot materials informed voters that the actions subject to

Proposition 51 were limited to only those "based upon" principles of comparative fault. Instead, the ballot materials align with the statute's plain import: the participial phrase instructs how the liability of each defendant is to be determined. (See *Martin*, *supra*, 984 F.2d at p. 1039.)

b. Plaintiffs' Proposed Interpretation of the "Comparative Fault" Clause Is Unreasonable.

Without citing any canon of interpretation, Plaintiffs argue that the "based upon principles of comparative fault" participial phrase refers to the term "action" in the preceding introductory clause. (B.B. Br. at pp. 22–23, T.E. Br. at pp. 14–15.) That construction is not reasonable for at least two fundamental reasons.

First, it is unreasonable for an "action"—i.e., a lawsuit—to be based upon "principles" of distributing fault. Actions are based upon the claims or facts asserted by the plaintiff in the litigation. (See, e.g., Larcher v. Wanless (1976) 18 Cal.3d 646, 656–657 ["[T]he cause of action for wrongful death . . . is an entirely new cause of action created in the heirs and based on the death of the decedent as that death inflicted injury upon them."], italics added.) This case is a prime example. Plaintiffs' pleadings did not cite comparative fault—nor should they since the doctrine is an affirmative defense (see People ex rel. Grijalva v. Superior Court (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 1072, 1078)—and it took a jury seven days of deliberation to decide whether comparative fault should apply at all. Plaintiffs' action, at most, implicated principles of comparative fault once it was before the jury; it was not "based" on these principles.

In contrast, and as explained above, a defendant's "liability" under section 1431.2, subdivision (a)—*i.e.*, the subject in the main clause—*is* based upon a "principle" of distributing fault—*i.e.*, the participial phrase. This is confirmed by both the second sentence in section 1431.2, subdivision (a) and prior opinions from the Court. (See *Knight*, *supra*, 3

Cal.4th at p. 311 ["[C]omparative fault *principles* call for a sharing of the burden of *liability*."], italics added.)

Second, it is unreasonable for "action" to have two separate modifiers. The term "action" is undeniably modified by the word it directly follows, "any." If it were also modified by the subsequent participial phrase, the modifier "any" would become surplusage. (See City & County of San Francisco v. Farrell (1982) 32 Cal.3d 47, 54 ["[A]n interpretation which would render terms surplusage should be avoided, and every word should be given some significance, leaving no part useless or devoid of meaning."].) Plaintiffs even admit in their opening briefing that their interpretation would eliminate "any" from the statute. Plaintiffs B.B. and B.B. concede that their statutory interpretation "requires several liability for non-economic damages only in an 'action . . . based upon principles of comparative fault.' " (B.B. Br. at p. 22, italics and alterations in original.) And Plaintiffs T.E., D.B., and D.B. concede that their statutory interpretation would mean that section 1431.2 "applies only to actions 'based upon principles of comparative fault.'" (T.E. Br. at p. 6, italics in original.) But by its plain terms, section 1431.2 must apply in "any action" of personal injury, property damage, and wrongful death, and not, as Plaintiffs argue, "only in" certain categories of those actions.

If the voters intended the participial phrase to modify "action," the modifier "any" would not exist and the participial phrase would not be offset by commas in a later clause, but instead included in the introductory clause. (See *Renee J. v. Superior Court* (2001) 26 Cal.4th 735, 747 [explaining that "the presence or absence of commas is a factor to be considered in interpreting a statute"].) Plaintiffs are essentially asking the Court to rewrite section 1431.2, subdivision (a) as follows:

In any action <u>based upon principles of comparative fault</u> for personal injury, property damage, or wrongful death, based upon principles of comparative fault, the liability of each defendant for non-economic damages shall be several only and shall not be joint.

But the Court "has no power to rewrite the statute so as to make it conform to a presumed intention which is not expressed." (*California Teachers Assn. v. Governing Bd. of Rialto Unified School Dist.* (1997) 14 Cal.4th 627, 633, citation omitted (*Cal. Teachers*).)

Defendants' interpretation requires no rewriting and best "ascertain[s] and effectuate[s] the intent" of the voters, which is always the goal of statutory interpretation. (*Pacific Gas & Electric Co. v. County of Stanislaus* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 1143, 1152.) The voters used an introductory clause to define the statute's scope and a participial phrase to define the manner in which liability would be apportioned. Section 1431.2, subdivision (a) applies to "every defendant," regardless of the nature of the defendant's wrongdoing, and, when applied, all defendants' liability shall be "based upon" the comparative fault doctrine, which distributes tort damages proportionately.

Because all of Plaintiffs' remaining arguments are dependent on an incorrect statutory construction, their arguments are moot, and the Court ought to reject them on that ground alone.

III. THE COMPARATIVE FAULT DOCTRINE DOES NOT EXCLUDE INTENTIONAL TORTFEASORS, AND SECTION 1431.2 DEMONSTRATES NO INTENT TO DO SO.

Even considering Defendants' unreasonable statutory construction, the results in this case would not change. According to Plaintiffs, intentional tortfeasors are not entitled to apportionment under section 1431.2 because the statute applies only to "actions based upon comparative fault" and the comparative fault doctrine excludes intentional tortfeasors.

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